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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF DELAWARE 

 
VALMONT INDUSTRIES, INC., 
 
        Plaintiff, 
 
  v. 
 
LINDSAY CORPORATION and 
LINDSAY SALES & SERVICES, LLC, 
 
        Defendants. 
 

C.A. No. 15-cv-42-LPS-CJB 
 
 

JURY TRIAL DEMANDED 

 
SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT 

Plaintiff Valmont Industries, Inc. (“Valmont”), for its Second Amended Complaint against 

Lindsay Corporation and Lindsay Sales & Services, LLC (collectively, “Lindsay” or 

“Defendants”), alleges as follows: 

The Nature of the Action 

1. This is an action for infringement of United States Patent No. 7,003,357 C2 (“the 

’357 Patent”) under 35 U.S.C. § 271. 

The Parties 

2. Valmont is a Delaware corporation, with a principal place of business at One 

Valmont Plaza, Omaha, Nebraska 68154.  

3. On information and belief, Lindsay Corporation is a Delaware corporation, with a 

principal place of business at 2222 North 111th Street, Omaha, Nebraska 68164.  Service upon 

Lindsay Corporation may be made by serving its registered agent for service of process, The 

Corporation Trust Company, 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, DE 19801.  On information and 

belief, Lindsay Corporation is in the wholesale sales and distribution business, and derives revenue 
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from sales and distribution of the products at issue through its dealer, Sussex Irrigation Co., Inc., 

located at 11323 Trussum Pond Road, Laurel, Delaware  19956. 

4. On information and belief, Lindsay Sales & Services, LLC is a Nebraska limited 

liability company with a principal place of business at 2222 North 111th Street, Omaha Nebraska 

68164. Counsel for Lindsay Corporation has agreed to accept service of process for Lindsay Sales 

& Services, LLC for this suit.  On information and belief, Lindsay Sales & Services, LLC is a 

wholly-owned subsidiary of Lindsay Sales Holding Company, LLC which, in turn, is a wholly-

owned subsidiary of Lindsay Corporation. 

Jurisdiction and Venue 

5. This action arises under the patent laws of the United States, Title 35 of the United 

States Code.  This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338(a). 

6. This Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants.  On information and belief, 

Defendant Lindsay Corporation is incorporated in Delaware, regularly does or solicits business in 

this jurisdiction, engages in other persistent courses of conduct in this jurisdiction, and/or derives 

substantial revenue from goods and services provided to persons or entities in Delaware.  In 

addition, the Court has personal jurisdiction over Defendants because they have established 

minimum contacts with the forum and the exercise of jurisdiction over Defendants would not 

offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.  In accordance with established 

distribution channels for the accused products, Defendants reasonably anticipated that the accused 

products would end up in this District and be sold herein. 

7. Venue in this jurisdiction as to Lindsay Corporation is proper under 28 U.S.C. 

§§ 1391 and 1400(b).  Lindsay Sales & Services, LLC has agreed to waive any objections to venue 

in this jurisdiction for purposes of this suit. 
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Background 

8. Valmont is one of the world's leading providers of engineered products and services 

for infrastructure, and irrigation equipment for agriculture. 

9. As an industry leader, Valmont began developing a new product for reading the 

status of and remotely controlling irrigation components and ancillary equipment.  At that time, 

the devices available for remotely controlling irrigation systems were limited to base station 

controls and remote-mount control panel systems.  Base station controls used RF telemetry or cell 

phone telemetry to read the status of and control irrigation components from a personal computer, 

but these systems suffered from the disadvantage that they required a user to be physically at the 

computer to utilize the controls.  Therefore, if a user was viewing irrigation equipment in the field 

and realized actions that needed to be taken immediately, the user would have to travel back to the 

base station computer to invoke those actions. 

10. The second option for remotely controlling irrigation systems at the time of 

Valmont’s invention was remote-mount control panels.  These panels were mounted at locations 

in the field away from the components they controlled, which provided users with access to 

controls in the field but also required burying power and control wires in the field.  These systems 

also disadvantageously limited the points of access to the control systems to those locations where 

the control panels were mounted. 

11. Valmont’s engineers discovered that the processes for remotely controlling 

irrigation equipment could be vastly improved by deploying a remote user interface—a separate 

unit from the irrigation component controller—and equipping the remote user interface in a 

manner that would allow a user to remotely check on the status of and control irrigation equipment.  

The remote user interface would be housed in a handheld device, thereby equipping the user with 
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the ability to monitor and control the equipment from anywhere, rather than being limited to a 

central computer or mounted stations, as in the prior art.   

12. Additionally, Valmont’s engineers developed particular methods for collecting and 

displaying the information necessary to monitor the equipment and effectively control the 

equipment from a handheld device.  In particular, a difficulty that had previously inhibited the use 

of handheld devices to monitor and control irrigation equipment was their inherently small screens.  

Valmont’s engineers developed novel graphical user interfaces, particular to the application 

relating to the monitoring and controlling of irrigation equipment, that could represent a lot of 

information in a relatively small area, yet still be quickly and easily read.  Among these innovations 

were graphical user interfaces that are shaped to represent one or more data and whose shape may 

change in response to changes in the data.  Further, Valmont was the first in the industry to allow 

customization of the remote user interface’s screens based on user preferences and/or the structural 

characteristics of the equipment being monitored and controlled.  This facilitated display of only 

relevant information, further improving the efficiency of using the remote user interface. 

13. Valmont’s engineers filed for a patent on their invention and were granted U.S. 

Patent No. 7,003,357 on February 21, 2006, which the inventors then assigned to Valmont. 

COUNT I 

Infringement of U.S. Patent No. 7,003,357 C2 Pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 271 

14. Valmont is the owner of the entire right, title, and interest in the ’357 Patent, 

including the right to exclude Lindsay and to enforce, sue and recover damages for past and future 

infringement against Lindsay.  A true and correct copy of the ’357 Patent is attached as Exhibit A. 

15. The ’357 Patent is valid, enforceable, and was duly issued on February 21, 2006, 

in full compliance with Title 35 of the United States Code.  On April 7, 2016, an ex parte 

reexamination request was filed for the ’357 Patent, and the PTO issued a reexamination certificate 
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on February 9, 2017, in which it cancelled Claim 16 of the ’357 Patent and added new claims 19-

90.  A true and correct copy of the reexamination certificate is attached as Exhibit B. On April 10, 

2017, a second ex parte reexamination request was filed for the ’357 Patent.  The PTO issued a 

second reexamination certificate on January 17, 2018, in which Claims 19–21 and 23 were 

amended.  A true and correct copy of the second reexamination certificate is attached as Exhibit C. 

16. On information and belief, Lindsay has been, and now is, directly infringing at least 

claims 11 and 25-90 of the ’357 Patent in this District and elsewhere in the United States, without 

the consent or authorization of Valmont, by or through its making, having made, sale, offer for 

sale, and/or use in the United States of the patented systems and methods which comprise a method 

and means for reading the status of and controlling irrigation components, including at least its 

FieldNET suite of products, which are covered by at least claims 11 and 25-90 of the ’357 Patent. 

17. For example, Lindsay directly infringes at least Claim 25 of the ’357 Patent when 

Lindsay employees use the FieldNET software on a handheld device.  Lindsay’s FieldNET 

products provide a remote user interface for reading the status of and controlling irrigation systems 

virtually from anywhere using the wireless capabilities of, for example, a tablet or smartphone. 

See, e.g., 

http://www.myfieldnet.com/stuff/contentmgr/files/2/090323f54ebfaee11b73a9cc0ae9566e/files/l

indsay_fieldnet_bro_0414_web.pdf: 
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FieldNET’s remote user interface provides the status of irrigation equipment and further allows a 

user to control irrigation equipment including a pivot and at least two end-guns affixed to the pivot.  

See, e.g., http://www.myfieldnet.com/remote-management:  
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18. Lindsay’s FieldNET products are designed and marketed for use with a hand-held 

display and processor. For example, Defendants offer FieldNET Mobile apps for download to and 

use on Apple and Android tablets and smartphones.   

19. Lindsay Sales & Service, LLC is shown as the “Seller” of the FieldNET Mobile 

app available on the Apple App Store and, in fact, offers the FieldNET Mobile app for download 

to consumers through the Apple App Store. 

20. Upon information and belief, the “Lindsay Sales & Service, LLC” referenced as 

the “Seller” of the FieldNET Mobile app on the Apple App Store is the same legal entity as Lindsay 

Sales & Services, LLC, a Nebraska limited liability company. 

21. Upon information and belief, the “Lindsay Sales & Service, LLC” referenced as 

the “Seller” of the FieldNET Mobile app on the Apple App Store is an affiliate of Lindsay 

Corporation. 

Case 1:15-cv-00042-LPS   Document 66   Filed 04/23/18   Page 8 of 25 PageID #: 540



SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT PAGE    9 

22. Lindsay Corporation is identified on Google Play as providing the FieldNET 

Mobile app for download to consumers through Google Play. 

23. Upon information and belief, the user interface features of the FieldNET Mobile 

application offered on the Apple App Store are the same as the user interface features of the 

FieldNET Mobile application offered on Google Play. 

24. The FieldNET suite of products are designed to be installed and run with the 

processor included on an iPhone or Android smartphone or iPad tablet device and inside a mobile 

web browser. 

See, e.g., iTunes: FieldNET Mobile, available at https://itunes.apple.com/us/app/fieldnet-

mobile/id557742488?mt=8: 
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See also, e.g., Google Play: FieldNET Mobile, available at 

https://play.google.com/store/apps/details?id=com.digitec.fieldnet.android: 

 

25. Lindsay’s FieldNET products, when used with a smartphone or tablet, also transmit 

signals and data wirelessly between the remote user interface and the irrigation equipment. See, 

e.g., 

http://www.myfieldnet.com/stuff/contentmgr/files/2/45dc11b7503c2a562df119ed8dd723ea/pdf/f

n_bro_drip_1014_web.pdf: 
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According to Lindsay’s materials, growers have “the ability to remotely monitor and control their 

irrigation equipment” with a FieldNET account and wireless control hardware. See, e.g., iTunes: 

FieldNET Mobile, available at https://itunes.apple.com/us/app/fieldnet-

mobile/id557742488?mt=8: 

 

26. Lindsay’s FieldNET products’ remote user interface also displays the irrigation 

equipment as a plurality of graphic user interfaces (GUIs) that are configured to present said data 

as status information on said display, wherein said plurality of GUIs are shaped to identify 

particular types of irrigation equipment by, for example, comprising a pivot GUI that represents a 

pivot, at least two end-gun GUIs that represent the at least two end-guns affixed to the pivot, and 

a spray pattern GUI that represents a setting of the at least two end-guns along a pivot path:  
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27. The remote user interface of FieldNET is comprised of a plurality of GUIs, 

including, for example, a pivot GUI with a shape representing the pivot path of the pivot, the shape 

partitioned into a plurality of wedges: 
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28. Lindsay’s FieldNET products comprise a plurality of GUIs shaped to identify 

particular types of irrigation equipment by, for example, comprising a spray pattern GUI that 

represents a setting of the at least two end-guns along a pivot path wherein the spray pattern GUI 

has a spray pattern representing the setting of the at least two end-guns along the pivot path: 

           

29. Lindsay’s FieldNET products’ remote user interface is configured to receive a 

user’s commands to control the irrigation equipment, through said user’s manipulation of the 

GUIs, comprising receiving a user’s selection of a wedge, and receive a user’s selection of a change 

of a status of one of at least two end-guns for the selected wedge: 
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30. Lindsay’s FieldNET products, when used with a smartphone or tablet, also transmit 

signals to the remote irrigation equipment to control the irrigation equipment based on a user’s 

commands.  FieldNET’s remote user interface further allows a user to control irrigation equipment.  

See, e.g., http://www.myfieldnet.com/remote-management:  
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See, e.g., 

http://www.myfieldnet.com/stuff/contentmgr/files/2/45dc11b7503c2a562df119ed8dd723ea/pdf/f

n_bro_drip_1014_web.pdf: 

      

31. Lindsay’s FieldNET products’ user interface is configured to display, for example, 

a changed spray pattern of the selected wedge according to the change of status of one of the at 

least two end guns: 
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32. Lindsay has actual knowledge of the ’357 Patent, and it has had actual knowledge 

of the ’357 Patent since at least the filing of Valmont’s Original Complaint on January 15, 2015. 

Lindsay has nonetheless continued infringing at least claims 11 and 25-90 of the ’357 Patent. 

33. On information and belief, Lindsay knew, or should have known, as early as August 

2015, that Lindsay and/or its customers infringe the ’357 Patent by use of the Lindsay FieldNET 

software on a smartphone or tablet.  Lindsay now employs, or has employed, several high level 

employees who previously served in high-level positions at Valmont.  On information and belief, 

some of these individuals, including Kurtis Charling, Brian Ketcham, Albert Maurin, Craig 

Malsam, and Tom Spears, knew about, or could have learned about the ’357 Patent while they 

were working at Valmont.  In particular, one high-level employee, Craig Malsam, who served as 

Vice President of Engineering and R&D at Valmont from 1999 until mid-2015, is a named inventor 

of the ’357 Patent and hence did know about the ’357 Patent and its claims.  During his 

employment at Valmont and prior to his departure from Valmont in mid-2015, Mr. Malsam was 
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familiar with the features of Lindsay’s FieldNET software.  On information and belief, since 

August 2015, Mr. Malsam has been Vice President of Engineering and New Product Development 

at Lindsay Corporation.  Consequently, it is likely that Mr. Malsam, and thus Lindsay, knew, as 

of August 2015, that Lindsay and its customers infringed the ’357 Patent by using the FieldNET 

software on a smartphone or tablet. 

34. On information and belief, Albert Maurin, who served as Product Development 

Manager at Valmont from 2013-2015, knew about the ’357 Patent and its claims while at Valmont.  

During his employment at Valmont and prior to his departure from Valmont in 2015, Mr. Maurin 

was familiar with the features of Lindsay’s FieldNET software.  On information and belief, since 

2016, Mr. Maurin has been a FieldNET Product Specialist at Lindsay Corporation.  Consequently, 

it is likely that Mr. Maurin, and thus Lindsay, knew, as of 2016, that Lindsay and its customers 

infringed the ’357 Patent by using the FieldNET software on a smartphone or tablet. 

35. On information and belief, Kurtis Charling, who served as Senior Product Support 

Specialist at Valmont from 2012-2014, knew about the ’357 Patent and its claims while at 

Valmont.  During his employment at Valmont and prior to his departure from Valmont in 2014, 

Mr. Charling was familiar with the features of Lindsay’s FieldNET software.  On information and 

belief, since 2015, Mr. Charling has been a Manager of FieldNET Business Solutions at Lindsay 

Corporation.  Consequently, it is likely that Mr. Charling, and thus Lindsay, knew, as of 2015, that 

Lindsay and its customers infringed the ’357 Patent by using the FieldNET software on a 

smartphone or tablet. 

36. On information and belief, Brian Ketcham, who served as VP and Group Controller 

at Valmont from 2001-2016, knew about the ’357 Patent and its claims while at Valmont.  During 

his employment at Valmont and prior to his departure from Valmont in 2016, Mr. Ketcham was 
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familiar with the features of Lindsay’s FieldNET software.  On information and belief, since April 

of 2016, Mr. Ketcham has been VP and CFO of Lindsay Corporation.  Consequently, it is likely 

that Mr. Ketcham, and thus Lindsay, knew, as of 2016, that Lindsay and its customers infringed 

the ’357 Patent by using the FieldNET software on a smartphone or tablet. 

37. On information and belief, Lindsay acted and has acted with full knowledge of the 

’357 Patent and without a reasonable basis for believing that it would not be liable for actively 

inducing or contributing to the infringement of the ’357 Patent.  At minimum, Lindsay was and 

continues to be willfully blind to the existence of the ’357 Patent and continues to sell, use, and 

direct others to use its infringing FieldNET products in infringing manners. 

38. On information and belief, Lindsay takes active steps to induce infringement by 

others of one or more claims of the ’357 Patent in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(b), including 

customers that purchase Lindsay’s FieldNET products.  Such active steps include, but are not 

limited to, encouraging, advertising (including by internet websites), promoting, and instructing 

others to use and/or how to use the capabilities of its FieldNET products for reading the status of 

and controlling irrigation components. For example, Lindsay advertises and encourages the use of 

its products to remotely control irrigation equipment using smartphones and tablets. See, e.g., 

http://www.myfieldnet.com/remote-management. 

39. On information and belief, Lindsay knows or should know that such activities 

induce others to directly infringe one or more claims of the ’357 Patent.  For example, Lindsay 

should have known that its actions induced others to directly infringe at least one claim of the ’357 

Patent as of at least August 2015. 

40. On information and belief, Lindsay contributes to the infringement of one or more 

claims of the ’357 Patent by others, including its customers, distributors, and authorized resellers 
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in violation of 35 U.S.C. § 271(c).  Acts by Lindsay that contribute to the infringement of others 

include, but are not limited to, the sale, offer for sale, and/or import by Lindsay of its FieldNET 

products.  Such products are especially made for or adapted for use to infringe, are not staple 

articles of commerce, and are not suitable for substantial non-infringing use.  For example, 

whatever features FieldNET may encompass, those features are provided for the purpose of 

remotely monitoring and controlling irrigation equipment using a handheld device, exactly as the 

’357 Patent claims.  See, e.g., 

http://www.lindsay.com/stuff/contentmgr/files/0/ba6f2b5f3ec1890a9ef3dbe9f61f47c5/pdf/lindsa

y_fieldnet_bro_pivotlat_0315_web.pdf: 

 

For instance, to the extent Lindsay’s FieldNET allows a user to monitor weather information, it is 

to permit him to “make knowledgeable irrigation decisions” about how to control his irrigation 

equipment. See id.: 
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Consequently, Lindsay’s FieldNET does not have a substantial non-infringing use despite having 

a variety of features that may be tangential to the claimed invention of the ’357 Patent but 

nonetheless relevant. 

41. On information and belief, as of at least August 2015, Lindsay has known of the 

’357 Patent and performs acts that it knows, or should know, induce, and/or contribute to the direct 

infringement of at one or more claims of the ’357 Patent by others. 

42. Lindsay has engaged in egregious infringement behavior with knowledge of the 

’357 Patent, which has been duly issued by the USPTO, and is presumed valid. On information 

and belief, as of August 2015, Lindsay has known or should have known that its actions constituted 

and continue to constitute infringement of the ’357 Patent and that the ’357 Patent is valid. Lindsay 

could not reasonably, subjectively believe that its actions do not constitute infringement of the 

’357 Patent, nor could it reasonably, subjectively believe that the patent is invalid. Despite that 

knowledge and subjective belief, and the objectively high likelihood that its actions constitute 

infringement, Lindsay has continued its infringing activities.  As such, Lindsay willfully infringes 

the ’357 Patent.  

43. By its actions, Lindsay has injured Valmont and is liable to Valmont for 

infringement of the ’357 Patent pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 271. 
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44. By its actions, Lindsay’s infringement of the ’357 Patent has irreparably injured 

Valmont. Unless such infringing acts are enjoined by this Court, Valmont will continue to suffer 

additional irreparable injury. 

45. By its actions, Lindsay’s infringement of the ’357 Patent has damaged, and 

continues to damage, Valmont in an amount yet to be determined, of at least a reasonable royalty 

and/or lost profits that Valmont would have made but for Lindsay’s infringing acts 

 

 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Valmont respectfully requests that this Court enter: 

A. That the ’357 Patent has been infringed by Lindsay; 

B. That Lindsay’s infringement of the ’357 Patent has been willful; 

C. An award of damages adequate to compensate Lindsay for the patent infringement 

that has occurred, together with pre-judgment interest and costs;  

D. An accounting for acts of infringement not presented at trial and/or up to the 

judgment and an award by the Court of additional damage for any such acts of 

infringement; 

E. A preliminary and permanent injunction against Lindsay from further infringement, 

or alternatively, award an ongoing royalty for Lindsay’s post-verdict infringement, 

payable on each product or service offered by Lindsay that is found to infringe one 

or more of the patent asserted herein, and on all future products and services that 

are not colorably different from those found to infringe; 

Case 1:15-cv-00042-LPS   Document 66   Filed 04/23/18   Page 23 of 25 PageID #: 555



SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT FOR PATENT INFRINGEMENT PAGE    24 

F. An award of all other damages permitted by 35 U.S.C. § 284, including increased 

damages up to three times the amount of compensatory damages found; 

G. A finding that this is an exceptional case and an award to Valmont of its costs and 

reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in this action as provided by 35 U.S.C. § 285; 

and 

H. Such other relief, including other monetary and equitable relief, as this Court deems 

just and proper. 

 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff hereby requests a trial by jury pursuant to Rule 38 of the Federal Rules of Civil 

Procedure. 

Dated:  April 23, 2018 FISH & RICHARDSON P.C. 

By: /s/ Susan E. Morrison 
Susan E. Morrison (#4690) 
222 Delaware Avenue, 17th Floor 
Wilmington, DE  19801 
Telephone:  (302) 652-5070 
Facsimile:  (302) 652-0607 
morrison@fr.com 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF 
VALMONT INDUSTRIES, INC. 
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Of Counsel: 
 
Neil J. McNabnay 
Texas Bar No. 24002583 
P. Weston Musselman, Jr. 
Texas Bar No. 14749600 
1717 Main Street, Suite 5000 
Dallas, Texas 75201 
(214) 747-5070 (Telephone) 
(214) 747-2091 (Facsimile) 
mcnabnay@fr.com 
musselman@fr.com 
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